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On October 27, 2006, 44,442,358 shares of the Registrant�s Common Stock, $0.0001 par value, were outstanding.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUPPORTSOFT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In thousands)

September 30,
2006

December 31,
2005

(Unaudited)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,495 $ 23,342
Marketable securities 103,989 97,321
Accounts receivable, net 7,038 17,437
Prepaids and other current assets 2,644 2,451
Total current assets 132,166 140,551
Property and equipment, net 928 1,211
Goodwill 9,792 9,792
Intangible assets, net 3,177 3,994
Other assets 441 701

Total assets $ 146,504 $ 156,249

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 210 $ 1,030
Accrued compensation 1,680 2,669
Other accrued liabilities 3,382 2,985
Deferred revenue, less long-term portion 10,291 14,060
Total current liabilities 15,563 20,744
Deferred revenue�long-term portion 299 969
Other long-term liabilities 173 142
Contingencies
Stockholders� equity:
Common stock 4 4
Additional paid-in capital 200,250 195,990
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (675 ) (645 )
Accumulated deficit (69,110 ) (60,955 )
Total stockholders� equity 130,469 134,394
Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 146,504 $ 156,249

See accompanying notes.
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SUPPORTSOFT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2006 2005 2006 2005
Revenue:
License fees $ 4,479 $ 5,404 $ 10,013 $ 23,751
Services 7,379 7,582 20,846 22,369
Total revenue 11,858 12,986 30,859 46,120
Costs and expenses:
Cost of license fees 119 123 333 440
Cost of services (including stock-based compensation of $87 and $210 for the
three and nine months ended September 30, 2006) 3,955 3,530 10,442 10,640
Amortization of intangible assets 272 272 816 816
Research and development (including stock-based compensation of $83 and
$301 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006) 2,267 2,700 7,125 8,535
Sales and marketing (including stock-based compensation of $219 and $592 for
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006) 6,013 5,304 16,993 18,369
General and administrative (including stock-based compensation of $415 and
$1,224 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006) 2,689 2,110 7,677 6,437
Total costs and expenses 15,315 14,039 43,386 45,237
Income (loss) from operations (3,457 ) (1,053 ) (12,527 ) 883
Interest income and other, net 1,842 909 4,705 2,523
Income (loss) before income taxes (1,615 ) (144 ) (7,822 ) 3,406
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (72 ) 59 (333 ) (126 )
Net income (loss) $ (1,687 ) $ (85 ) $ (8,155 ) $ 3,280
Basic net income (loss) per share $ (0.04 ) $ (0.00 ) $ (0.19 ) $ 0.08
Shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per share 44,152 43,001 44,000 42,914
Diluted net income (loss) per share $ (0.04 ) $ (0.00 ) $ (0.19 ) $ 0.07
Shares used in computing diluted net income (loss) per share 44,152 43,001 44,000 44,629

See accompanying notes.
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SUPPORTSOFT, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)
(Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended
September 30,
2006 2005

Operating Activities:
Net income (loss) $ (8,155 ) $ 3,280
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 761 845
Amortization of intangible assets 817 817
Stock-based compensation 2,327 �
Other 57 154
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net 10,399 (3,296 )
Prepaids and other current assets (193 ) 791
Other long-term assets 260 (340 )
Accounts payable (820 ) 484
Accrued compensation (988 ) (979 )
Other accrued liabilities 396 (68 )
Other long-term liabilities 31 �
Deferred revenue (4,439 ) (5,178 )
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 453 (3,490 )

Investing Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment (478 ) (939 )
Purchases of marketable securities (52,946 ) (71,757 )
Sales and maturities of marketable securities 46,191 77,746
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (7,233 ) 5,050

Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuances of common stock 1,933 2,036
Repurchase of common stock � (922 )
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,933 1,114
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (4,847 ) 2,674
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 23,342 16,509
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 18,495 $ 19,183

Supplemental schedule of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid $ 253 $ 114

See accompanying notes.
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SUPPORTSOFT, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

(1) Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of SupportSoft, Inc. (the �Company� or
�SupportSoft�) and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. The balance sheet as of
September 30, 2006 and the statements of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 and cash flows for the
nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 are unaudited. In the opinion of management, these unaudited interim condensed consolidated
financial statements reflect all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) that are necessary for a fair presentation of the results
for and as of the periods shown. The results of operations for such periods are not necessarily indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal
year or for any future period. The condensed consolidated financial statement information as of December 31, 2005 is derived from audited
financial statements as of that date. These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read with the consolidated
financial statements and related notes included in the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 16, 2006.

Use of Estimates and Reclassifications

The preparation of interim condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements
and the accompanying notes. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates. In addition, certain amounts that were previously
reported have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants� (AICPA) Statement of Position (�SOP�) 97-2,
Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP 98-4 and SOP 98-9. License revenue is recognized when all of the following criteria are
met:

•  Persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;

•  Delivery has occurred;

•  Collection is considered probable; and

•  The fees are fixed or determinable.

SupportSoft considers all arrangements with payment terms longer than 90 days not to be fixed or determinable. If the fee is determined not to
be fixed or determinable, revenue is recognized as payments become due from the customer.

License revenue is comprised of fees for perpetual and term licenses of our software. Perpetual license revenue is recognized using the residual
method described in SOP 98-9 for arrangements in which licenses are sold with multiple elements. We allocate revenue on these licenses based
upon the fair value of each undelivered element (for example, undelivered maintenance and support, consulting, and training). The determination
of fair value is based upon vendor specific objective evidence (VSOE). VSOE for maintenance and support is determined based upon separate
renewals of maintenance and support from customers. VSOE for training and consulting is based upon separate sales of these services to
customers. Assuming all other revenue recognition criteria are met, the difference between the total arrangement fee and the amount deferred for
each undelivered element is recognized as license revenue. Our perpetual arrangements may include contractual obligations such as rights to
unspecified future products which require license revenue to be taken ratably over the contract period.
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Term licenses are sold with maintenance for which SupportSoft does not have VSOE to determine fair value. As a result, license revenue for
term licenses is recognized ratably over the duration of the agreement. License fees for term licenses include the right to support and
maintenance for the duration of the term license. We do not allocate maintenance revenue from term licenses to services revenue, as we do not
believe there is an allocation methodology that provides a meaningful and supportable allocation between license and maintenance revenue.
Consulting revenue associated with the term licenses is recognized ratably over the period associated with the initial payment, generally one
year.

We also recognize license revenue from arrangements with resellers. Revenue is recognized upon persuasive evidence that the products have
been sold to an end user; and all other revenue recognition criteria are met.
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In connection with licensing arrangements we may also provide hosting services, for which SupportSoft does not have VSOE.  If hosting
services are sold with perpetual licenses, license revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the initial hosting contract.  Hosting services
revenue is also recognized ratably over the duration of the initial hosting contract.  Consulting services sold in conjunction with arrangements
that include licenses and hosting services are recognized ratably over the duration of the initial hosting term.  Fees for hosting services and
consulting services are recognized as services revenue in the Company�s consolidated statements of operations.

Services revenue is primarily comprised of revenue from professional services, such as maintenance and support, consulting and training.
Arrangements that include services are evaluated to determine whether those services are essential to the functionality of other elements of the
arrangement. Revenue from non-essential consulting and training services associated with perpetual licenses is generally recognized as the
services are performed or milestones are accepted by customers. When non-essential services are bundled in a term licensing arrangement,
revenue from the services is recognized ratably over the period associated with the initial payment, generally one year. Maintenance and support
revenue is recognized over the term of the maintenance and support period which is generally one year. In the event services are considered
essential to the functionality of other elements of the arrangement, revenue under the arrangement is recognized using contract accounting
pursuant to SOP 81-1, Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain Production-Type Contracts.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

SupportSoft considers all liquid instruments with an original maturity at the date of purchase of ninety days or less to be cash equivalents. At
September 30, 2006, cash equivalents and marketable securities consisted primarily of money market funds, commercial paper, federal agency
securities, corporate bonds and market auction securities. Our marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale as of the respective
balance sheet dates, and are reported at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income within
stockholders� equity on the consolidated balance sheet. Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other-than-temporary on
available-for-sale securities are included in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations.

The amortized cost of debt securities is adjusted for amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts to maturity, both of which are included
in interest income. SupportSoft recorded net unrealized losses on available-for-sale securities of $29,000 and $117,000 at September 30, 2006
and December 31, 2005, respectively.

We monitor our investments for impairment on a quarterly basis and determine whether a decline in fair value is other-than-temporary by
considering factors such as current economic and market conditions, the credit rating of the security�s issuer, the length of time an investment�s
fair value has been below our carrying value, and our ability and intent to hold investments to maturity. If an investment�s decline in fair value is
deemed to be other-than-temporary, we would reduce its carrying value to its estimated fair value, as determined based on quoted market prices
or liquidation values.

The following is a summary of cash, cash equivalents and available-for-sale securities at September 30, 2006 (in thousands):

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Losses Fair Value

Cash $ 4,808 $ � $ 4,808
Money market funds 542 � 542
Commercial paper 19,605 (16 ) 19,589
Federal agency securities 1,000 (2 ) 998
Corporate bonds 28,683 (11 ) 28,672
Market auction securities 67,875 � 67,875

$ 122,513 $ (29 ) $ 122,484

Classified as:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 18,508 $ (13 ) $ 18,495
Marketable securities 104,005 (16 ) 103,989

$ 122,513 $ (29 ) $ 122,484

Concentrations of Credit Risk
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Financial instruments that potentially subject SupportSoft to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash equivalents, marketable
securities and trade accounts receivable. Our investment portfolio is diversified and consists of investment grade securities. Our investment
policy limits the amount of credit risk exposure to any one issuer and in any
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single country except the United States. The credit risk in our trade accounts receivable is mitigated by our credit evaluation process, reasonably
short collection terms and sales primarily to large organizations in diversified industries.

For the three months ended September 30, 2006, one customer accounted for 21% of our total revenue. For the nine months ended September
30, 2006, no customer accounted for 10% of our total revenue. For the three months ended September 30, 2005, one customer accounted for
19% of our total revenue. For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, two customers each accounted for 11% of our total revenue.

Trade Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount. We perform evaluations of our customers� financial condition and generally do
not require collateral. We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances for the portion of
receivables when collection becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding invoices. For
those invoices not specifically provided for, provisions are recorded at differing rates, based upon the age of the receivable. In determining these
percentages, we analyze our historical collection experience and current payment trends. If the historical data we use to calculate the allowance
for doubtful accounts does not reflect the future ability to collect outstanding receivables, additional provisions for doubtful accounts may be
needed and the future results of operations could be materially affected. At September 30, 2006 and December 31, 2005, the Company had
reserves for credit losses of $276,000 and $296,000, respectively. At September 30, 2006, two different customers each accounted for 10% or
more of total accounts receivable. These customers accounted for 12% and 10% individually of our total accounts receivable, net. At
December 31, 2005, two customers each accounted for 10% or more of our total accounts receivable, net. These two customers each accounted
for 20% of our total accounts receivable, net.

Stock-Based Compensation

Adoption of SFAS 123R

On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), �Share-Based Payment,� (�SFAS
123R�) which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards, including employee stock
options and employee stock purchases, made to employees and directors based on estimated fair values. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company
accounted for share-based payments to employees using the intrinsic value method under APB Opinion No. 25, as permitted by SFAS 123, and,
as such, generally recognized no compensation cost for employee stock options or employees stock purchases in its financial statements.

SupportSoft elected the modified prospective transition method for adopting SFAS 123R which required the application of the accounting
standard as of January 1, 2006, the first day of the Company�s 2006 fiscal year. Under this transition method, compensation cost recognized in
the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 includes the applicable amounts of: (a) compensation cost for all stock-based payments
granted prior to, but not yet vested as of, December 31, 2005 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original
provisions of SFAS 123 and previously presented in the pro-forma footnote disclosures, and (b) compensation cost of all share-based payments
granted subsequent to January 1, 2006 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the new provisions of SFAS 123R. Prior
periods have not been restated to reflect the impact of SFAS 123R.

Stock Option Plans

During fiscal 1998, SupportSoft adopted the 1998 Stock Option Plan (the �Plan�). Under this Plan, up to 9,424,434 shares of SupportSoft�s
common stock may be granted as options or sold to eligible participants. Under the Plan, options to purchase common stock may be granted at
no less than 85% of the fair value on the date of the grant (110% of fair value in certain instances), as determined by the Board of Directors.
Options under the Plan can be immediately exercisable at the Board of Directors� discretion; however, shares issued are subject to SupportSoft�s
right to repurchase such shares at the original issuance price, which lapses in a series of installments measured from the vesting commencement
date of the option.

In February 2000, the Board of Directors approved SupportSoft�s 2000 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the �2000 Incentive Plan�). A total of
4,000,000 shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance to eligible participants under the 2000 Incentive Plan. On January 1 of
each year, the number of shares reserved automatically increases by the lesser of 2,000,000 shares, 5% of outstanding shares, or an amount
determined by the board of directors. On January 1, 2006, the shares reserved under the 2000 Incentive Plan were automatically increased by
2,000,000 shares. Under both of SupportSoft�s option plans, options generally vest over a 48-month period from the date of grant and have a
maximum term of 10 years. In the fourth quarter of 2005, SupportSoft began issuing only non-statutory options with a contractual term of 7
years.
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As of September 30, 2006 we had approximately 3.4 million shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under both of these plans.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In February 2000, the Board of Directors approved SupportSoft�s 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the �2000 Purchase Plan�). A total of
2,000,000 shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance under the 2000 Purchase Plan. On January 1 of each year, the number of
shares reserved automatically increases by the lesser of 2,000,000 shares, 3% of the outstanding shares, or an amount determined by the Board
of Directors. For 2006, the Board of Directors elected to have zero shares added to the 2000 Purchase Plan. The 2000 Purchase Plan permits
eligible employees to acquire shares of SupportSoft�s common stock through periodic payroll deductions of up to 15% of total compensation.
Purchases occur on the last day of each January and July following the end of each six-month purchase period. The price at which the common
stock may be purchased is 85% of the lesser of the fair market value of SupportSoft�s common stock at the beginning of the applicable offering
period or the end of the applicable purchase period. Beginning August 1, 2006, the offering period for all new participants in the 2000 Purchase
Plan will be six months. Prior to August 1, 2006, all participants were enrolled in offering periods which could last up to 24 months and
contained up to four separate purchase periods.

As of September 30, 2006, we had approximately 1.9 million shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under this plan.

Determining Fair Value

Valuation and Attribution Method: SupportSoft estimates the fair value of stock options granted generally using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model. Stock options vest on a graded schedule, however the Company recognizes the
expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the entire award, net of estimated forfeitures and
subject to the minimum expense requirements of SFAS 123R. These limitations require that on any date the
compensation cost recognized is at least equal to the portion of the grant-date fair value of the award that is vested at
that date.

Risk-free Interest Rate: The Company bases its risk-free interest rate upon the yield currently available on US Treasury
zero coupon issues for the expected term of the employee stock options.

Expected Term: The Company�s expected term represents the period that the Company�s stock options are expected to be
outstanding and is determined based on historical experience of similar stock options considering the contractual
terms of the stock options, vesting schedules and expectations of future employee behavior.

Expected Volatility: The Company�s expected volatility represents the amount by which the stock price is expected to
fluctuate throughout the period that the stock option is outstanding. The Company bases its expected volatility on a
weighted average calculation combining both historical and implied volatilities as it believes that this combination is
more representative of future stock price trends than historical volatility alone. The implied volatility factor included
in this computation is based upon traded options on the Company�s stock.

Estimated Forfeitures: SFAS 123R requires that the stock option expense recognized be based on awards that are
ultimately expected to vest, and therefore a forfeiture rate should be applied at the time of grant and revised, if
necessary, in subsequent periods when actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Prior to January 1, 2006 the
Company accounted for forfeitures only as they occurred. Commencing in 2006, the Company has estimated its
forfeitures based on historical experience.

Expected Dividend: The Company uses a dividend yield of zero, as it has never paid cash dividends and currently does
not expect to pay dividends in the future.

9
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The fair value of the Company�s stock options granted to employees during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 was
estimated using the following assumptions:

Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

2006 2005 2006 (1) 2005 (1)

Stock Option Plan:
Risk-free interest rate 4.7 % 4.1 % 4.5 % 3.9 %

Expected term 3.9 years 4.0 years 3.9 years 4.0 years
Volatility 54.6 % 73.3 % 50.6 % 77.9 %
Estimated forfeitures 8 % 0 % 8 % 0 %
Expected dividend 0 % 0 % 0 % 0 %
Weighted average fair value $ 1.81 $ 3.11 $ 1.92 $ 3.19
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP):
Risk-free interest rate 4.7 % 3.8 % 4.7 % 3.4 %
Expected term 0.5 to 2.0 years 0.5 to 2.0 years 0.5 to 2.0 years 0.5 to 2.0 years
Volatility 54.1 % 71.0 % 54.1 % 75.6 %
Estimated forfeitures 8 % 0 % 8 % 0 %
Expected dividend 0 % 0 % 0 % 0 %
Weighted average fair value $ 1.66 $ 2.52 $ 1.66 $ 2.77

(1)                      The assumptions for the nine month period represent weighted averages.

Tax Effects of Share-Based Payments

On November 10, 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Staff Position No. SFAS-123R-3 �Transition Election
Related to Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-Based Payment Awards� which provides for an alternative transition method to calculate the tax
effects of stock-based compensation expense pursuant to SFAS 123R. The alternative transition method includes a simplified approach to
establish the beginning balance of the additional paid-in-capital pool related to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation, and to
determine the subsequent impact on the additional paid-in-capital pool and cash flows for the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation
awards that are outstanding upon the adoption of SFAS 123R. As of September 30, 2006, the Company was still evaluating which transition
method to adopt.

Stock Compensation Expense

The Company recorded the following stock-based compensation expense for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 (in
thousands):

Three months ended
September 30, 2006

Nine months ended
September 30, 2006

Stock option compensation expense recognized in:
Cost of services $ 62 $ 147
Research and development 65 210
Sales and marketing 196 490
General and administrative 400 1,172

723 2,019

ESPP compensation expense recognized in:
Cost of services 25 63
Research and development 18 91
Sales and marketing 23 102
General and administrative 15 52
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81 308

Stock-based compensation expense included in total costs and expenses $ 804 $ 2,327
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For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, the Company recorded $804,000 and $2.3 million respectively in stock-based
compensation expense. There was no stock-based compensation expense recognized for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2006, there was $238,000, of the total stock-based compensation expense related to the acceleration of
the stock options awarded to the Company�s former chief executive officer in connection with a transition agreement dated March 12, 2006.
Pursuant to the terms of this agreement, provided the former CEO remained an employee of the Company, on the date the Board of Directors
appointed a new CEO, all then outstanding and unvested options would be immediately vested. A new CEO was appointed on April 6, 2006 and
vesting of 115,625 shares was accelerated. This acceleration represents a modification of the original terms of the awards. The cost of this
modification was determined to be $238,000, all of which has been recognized at the end of the second quarter of 2006. There was no
stock-based compensation expense related to this recognized in the third quarter of 2006.

As a result of adopting SFAS 123R, the Company�s loss before income taxes and net loss for the three months ended September 30, 2006 was
$804,000 higher than if it had continued to account for share-based compensation under APB 25. Basic and diluted loss per share for the three
months ended September 30, 2006 would have both been $0.02 lower if the Company had not adopted SFAS 123R.

Similarly, the Company�s loss before income taxes and net loss for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was $2.3  million higher than if it
had continued to account for share-based compensation under APB 25. Basic and diluted loss per share for the nine months ended September 30,
2006 would have both been $0.06 lower if the Company had not adopted SFAS 123R.

Net cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options were $382,000 and $1.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006
respectively. No income tax benefit was realized from stock option exercises during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006.

The table below reflects the net loss and loss per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 compared with the pro-forma
information for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005 (in thousands):

For the three months ended
September 30,

For the nine months ended
September 30,

2006 2005 (2) 2006 2005 (2)

Net income (loss) � as reported for the prior period N/A (1) $ (85 ) N/A (1) $ 3,280
Stock-based compensation expense relating to:
Stock options (723 ) (2,005 ) (2,019 ) (6,060 )
ESPP stock purchases (81 ) (56 ) (308 ) (369 )
Net loss, including the effect of stock-based compensation
expense $ (1,687 ) $ (2,146 ) $ (8,155 ) $ (3,149 )
Basic net income per share � as reported for the prior period N/A (1) $ 0.00 N/A (1) $ 0.08
Basic net loss per share � including the effect of stock-based
compensation $ (0.04 ) $ (0.05 ) $ (0.19 ) $ (0.07 )
Diluted net income per share � as reported for the prior
period N/A (1) $ 0.00 N/A (1) $ 0.07
Diluted net loss per share � including the effect of
stock-based compensation $ (0.04 ) $ (0.05 ) $ (0.19 ) $ (0.07 )

(1)       Net income and net income per share prior to January 1, 2006 did not include stock-based compensation expense
for stock options and employee stock purchases under SFAS 123 because the Company had not adopted the
recognition provisions of SFAS 123.

(2)       Stock-based compensation expense, net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share prior to January 1, 2006 is
calculated based on the pro-forma application of SFAS 123.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, our Board of Directors approved the acceleration of vesting of certain unvested and out-of-money stock
options with exercise prices equal to or greater than $5.00 per share previously awarded to employees, including executive officers, under our
equity compensation plans. The acceleration of vesting was effective for stock options outstanding as of December 21, 2005. Options to
purchase approximately 3.0 million shares of common stock or 32% of our then outstanding unvested stock options were subject to this
acceleration. The weighted average price of the options that were accelerated was $7.02. The options accelerated excluded options previously

Edgar Filing: SUPPORTSOFT INC - Form 10-Q

17



granted to Board of Directors, employees who had terminations pending and foreign employees who opted out of the acceleration for tax
reasons. For all officers and vice-presidents (non-officers) the acceleration was accompanied by restrictions imposed on any shares that may in
the future be purchased through the exercise of accelerated stock options. Those restrictions prevent the sale of any such shares prior to the date
such shares would have originally vested had the optionee been employed on such date (whether or not the optionee is actually an employee at
that time). The purpose of the acceleration was to enable us to avoid recognizing compensation expense associated with these options in our
Consolidated Statements of Operations upon the adoption of SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006. The acceleration of the vesting of these stock
options resulted in an approximate total savings of $12.0 million of future compensation expense that would have impacted expenses through the
third quarter of 2009.

Stock Option Activity

The following table represents stock option activity for the nine months ended September 30, 2006:

11
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Number of
Shares

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in �000�s)

Outstanding options at the beginning of the period 10,124,138 $ 6.304
Granted 4,115,200 4.082
Exercised (469,544 ) 4.160
Forfeited (1,880,638 ) 7.603

Outstanding options at the end of the period 11,889,156 $ 5.590 6.60 $ 4,445,558

Options vested and expected to vest 11,810,111 $ 5.600 6.60 $ 4,422,866

Outstanding exercisable at the end of the period 7,787,283 $ 6.330 6.60 $ 3,359,070
The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value that would have been received by the option holders
had they all exercised their options on September 30, 2006. This amount will change based on the fair market value of the Company�s stock.
During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, the aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised under the Company�s stock
options plans was $147,000 and $538,000, respectively. Total fair value of options vested during the three and nine months ended September 30,
2006 was $733,000 and $2.1 million, respectively.

At September 30, 2006, there was $8.7 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to existing options outstanding as of September 30,
2006 which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.4 years.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share are presented in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, �Earnings
per Share� (�SFAS 128�), for all periods presented. In accordance with SFAS 128, basic and diluted net loss per share have been computed using
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share (in thousands, except per share data):

Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

2006 2005 2006 2005
Net income (loss) $ (1,687 ) $ (85 ) $ (8,155 ) $ 3,280
Basic:
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding 44,152 43,001 44,000 42,914

Shares used in computing basic net income per share 44,152 43,001 44,000 42,914

Basic net income (loss) per share $ (0.04 ) $ (0.00 ) $ (0.19 ) $ 0.08

Diluted:
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding 44,152 43,001 44,000 42,914
Add: Common equivalent shares outstanding � � � 1,715

Shares used in computing diluted net income per share 44,152 43,001 44,000 44,629

Diluted net income (loss) per share: $ (0.04 ) $ (0.00 ) $ (0.19 ) $ 0.07
Warranties and Indemnifications

SupportSoft generally provides a warranty for its software products and services to its customers and accounts for its warranties under the
FASB�s Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 5, �Accounting for Contingencies� (�SFAS 5�). Our standard warranty period is 90 days,
but warranty periods can sometimes be longer and vary from customer to customer. In the event there is a failure of the product in breach of
such warranties, SupportSoft generally is obligated to correct the product or service to conform to the warranty provision or, if SupportSoft is
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unable to do so, the customer is entitled to seek a refund of the purchase price of the product or service. SupportSoft did not provide for a
warranty accrual as of September 30, 2006 or December 31, 2005. To date, SupportSoft�s product warranty expense has not been significant.

12

Edgar Filing: SUPPORTSOFT INC - Form 10-Q

20



SupportSoft generally agrees to indemnify its customers against legal claims that SupportSoft�s software products infringe certain third-party
intellectual property rights and accounts for its indemnification obligations under SFAS 5. To date, SupportSoft has not been required to make
any payment resulting from infringement claims asserted against our customers and has not recorded any related accruals.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Interpretation No. 48 (FIN 48), �Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes.� This Interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company�s financial statements in accordance
with SFAS No. 109, �Accounting for Income Taxes.� FIN 48 prescribes a  recognition and measurement threshold and measurement attribute for
the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2006. The Company is currently evaluating the effects that FIN 48 may have on its accounting for income
tax practices.

(2) Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130, �Reporting Comprehensive Income� (�SFAS 130�) establishes standards for reporting and
displaying comprehensive net income and its components in stockholders� equity. However, it has no impact on our net income or loss as
presented in our financial statements. SFAS 130 requires foreign currency translation adjustments and changes in the fair value of
available-for-sale securities to be included in comprehensive income or loss.

The following are the components of comprehensive income (loss) (in thousands):

Three months ended
September 30,

Nine months ended
September 30,

2006 2005 2006 2005
Net income (loss) $ (1,687 ) $ (85 ) $ (8,155 ) $ 3,280
Net unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities 72 38 87 134
Foreign currency translation gain (loss) 46 132 (118 ) (311 )
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (1,569 ) $ 85 $ (8,186 ) $ 3,103
The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) relate entirely to translation adjustment gains and losses and unrealized
gains and losses on available-for-sale securities and are $(646,000) and $(29,000) at September 30, 2006, respectively.

(3) Income Taxes

We recorded income tax provisions of $72,000 and $333,000 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, respectively. These
provisions primarily reflect foreign income taxes and foreign withholding taxes. For the three months ended September 30, 2005, we recorded a
benefit for income taxes of approximately $59,000. The income tax benefit reflects a reduction of projected annual income in the third quarter of
2005.  For the nine months ended September 30, 2005, we recorded a provision of $126,000 which primarily reflects foreign taxes.

As of September 30, 2006, our deferred tax assets are fully offset by a valuation allowance. The Financial Accounting Standards Board�s
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109 �Accounting for Income Taxes,� provides for the recognition of deferred tax assets if
realization of such assets is more likely than not. Based upon the weight of available evidence, which includes SupportSoft�s historical operating
performance, reported cumulative net losses since inception and difficulty in accurately forecasting our future results, the Company provided a
full valuation allowance against its net deferred tax assets. We reassess the need for our valuation allowance on a quarterly basis. If it is later
determined that a portion of the valuation allowance should be reversed it will be a benefit to the income tax provision.

(4) Contingencies

Legal Matters

Except as noted below, there are no material changes in the status of our legal proceedings from those described in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, as updated in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2006 and June
30, 2006.

In re SupportSoft, Inc. Securities Litigation is a consolidated complaint filed in the United Stated District Court of the
Northern District of California against the Company, our former CEO and former CFO. The complaint generally
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alleges
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violations of certain federal securities law and seeks unspecified damages. On May 31, 2006, this action was certified to proceed as a class
action on behalf of all persons and entities who purchased or otherwise acquired the securities of the Company from January 29, 2004 to October
1, 2004 and who were allegedly damaged thereby.

White v. Base et al. is a derivative shareholder complaint filed in the Superior Court of the State of California for the
County of San Mateo. This complaint was filed on behalf of the Company as a nominal defendant against certain of
our directors and former directors and alleges that the director defendants harmed the Company by making or
permitting the Company to make false and misleading statements between January 20, 2004 and October 1, 2004. On
September 25, 2006, the court denied Defendants� demurrer to the plaintiffs� First Amended Complaint.   Defendants�
answer is due on November 6, 2006.

We are also subject to other routine legal proceedings, as well as demands, claims and threatened litigation, that arise in the normal course of our
business. The ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain, and either unfavorable or favorable outcomes could have a material negative
impact. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on SupportSoft because of defense costs, diversion of management
resources and other factors.

Taxes

We are required to make periodic filings in the states where we are deemed to have a presence for tax purposes. We have undergone state audits
in the past and have paid assessments arising from these audits. To date, such amounts have not been material. We evaluate estimated losses that
could arise from similar assessments in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 5, �Accounting for Contingencies.� We
consider such factors as the degree of probability of an unfavorable outcome and the ability to make a reasonable estimate of the amount of loss.

(5) Restructuring Obligations and Other Charges

In the fourth quarter of 2005, SupportSoft�s management performed a review of its business operations and realigned its resources and
go-to-market strategies to help maximize future revenue opportunities. As a result of this business review, the Company implemented a
restructuring plan that included the termination of 27 employees and closure of various offices worldwide. All of the employees included in the
restructuring were terminated as of December 31, 2005. As a result of the restructuring plan, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of
$645,000 for severance costs and lease termination-related costs during the fourth quarter of 2005.

In the third quarter of 2006, in connection with a business review conducted by SupportSoft�s new Chief Executive Officer, the Company
reduced its workforce by 25 employees, or approximately 10% of its workforce at that time. As a result, the Company recorded a restructuring
charge of $756,000 in the third quarter of 2006. The restructuring charge was comprised entirely of severance costs and other personnel-related
termination costs. Restructuring expenses included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended September
30, 2006 were $184,000 for cost of services, $40,000 for research and development, $338,000 for sales and marketing and $194,000 for general
and administrative. Cash payments of $468,000 were made against those obligations during the third quarter of 2006.

The obligations at September 30, 2006 are summarized in the following table (in thousands):

Severance (1) Facilities (2) Total
Restructuring costs $ 456 $ 189 $ 645
Cash payments (346 ) (34 ) (380 )

Restructuring obligations, December 31, 2005 $ 110 $ 155 $ 265
Cash payments (110 ) (102 ) (212 )

Restructuring obligations, March 31, 2006 $ � $ 53 $ 53
Cash payments � (53 ) (53 )

Restructuring obligations, June 30, 2006 $ � $ � $ �
Restructuring costs 756 � �
Cash payments (468 ) � �
Restructuring obligations, September 30, 2006 $ 288 $ � $ �
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(1)       Severance costs include those expenses related to severance pay and related employee benefit obligations.

(2)       Facilities costs include obligations under non-cancelable leases for facilities that we will no longer occupy, as
well as penalties associated with early terminations of leases and disposal of fixed assets. The related leases are short
term in nature expiring in less than one year. No sublease income has been included.
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ITEM 2: MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read together with the unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing in Item 1 of this report on Form 10-Q and the section entitled
�Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations� and the consolidated financial statements and related
notes included in SupportSoft�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005.

This report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements. These statements relate to our future plans, objectives, expectations,
intentions and financial performance, as well as statements regarding our plans to introduce consumer technology support services.
 Forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ
materially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. These risks and uncertainties include, but
are not limited to, our ability to achieve broad adoption and acceptance of our offerings, the potential for a
decrease in revenue caused by our reliance on a few large transactions in any period, long sales cycles, the
ability of our software to operate with hardware and software platforms that are used by our customers now or
in the future, our ability to compete successfully in the support automation software market and in the
consumer technology support market, our limited experience in servicing consumers directly, our ability to
meet consumer expectations, our dependence on channel partners for customer acquisition, our ability to
manage rapid headcount growth, our ability to address market opportunities in light of the recent
restructuring and leadership transitions, diversion of management attention to litigation matters or strategic
matters, our ability to accurately predict performance, our ability to retain key employees, our ability to obtain
sufficient patent protection, and the uncertain economic conditions in the United States and in international
markets.  Additional risks and uncertainties include those listed under Item 1A, �Risk Factors.� SupportSoft
expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any
forward-looking statements contained in this report to conform these statements to actual results or changes in
our expectations or in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based. You should
not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which apply only as of the date hereof.

Overview

We have historically developed, marketed and distributed software designed to facilitate the identification, diagnosis and resolution of
technology-related problems. Our software solutions have been utilized by:

•      Digital service providers, to provide automated installation, verification and support of the broadband services
they provide to their subscribers; and

•      Corporate enterprises, either directly or as part of an outsourced solution from managed service providers, to
automate the management of computing endpoints and to provide service and support automation to customers,
partners and employees.

Our revenue to date has consisted of software license fees and fees for maintenance, consulting, hosting and training services. We have licensed
our software to customers predominately on a perpetual basis in which we recognize the license revenue upfront, assuming all criteria for
revenue recognition under the applicable accounting rules have been met. Maintenance fees relating to perpetual software licenses result in
ratable revenue over the length of the maintenance term, which is generally one year. Consulting and training revenues are generally recognized
as the services are performed or in accordance with predefined project milestones.

Our total revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 was approximately $11.9 million and $30.9 million. Our total
revenue increased in the third quarter of 2006 by $1.1 million, or approximately 10%, over the second quarter of 2006 driven primarily by an
increase in license revenue.  License revenue in the third quarter of 2006 increased $1.0 million, or approximately 29%, over the prior quarter. 
Services revenue increased $98,000, or approximately 1%, in the third quarter of 2006 over the prior quarter. Despite the sequential quarterly
increases in license and services revenue in 2006, our total revenue for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 represents
decreases of 9% and 33% from the comparable periods in 2005.
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In April 2006, we named Joshua Pickus as President and Chief Executive Officer of SupportSoft. In July 2006, following an evaluation of the
Company�s business operations and market opportunities we announced a plan to (1) strengthen our current business through more effective
deployment and management of resources, and (2) extend our business by providing consumer technology support services.  In addition to
continuing to offer our software to corporate customers, we plan to offer technology support services to consumers through call-center based
experts using our own technology.
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We believe the market for consumer technology support services is large and rapidly growing. We also believe we are well positioned to
participate in this market because of our support automation technology, our expertise in addressing technology support problems and our
customer relationships. We plan to reach consumers through channel partners, such as hardware manufacturers, independent software vendors,
service providers, portals and other channel partners who will refer consumers to us and receive a referral fee or revenue share from us. We also
plan to acquire customers directly through our support.com website where consumers would connect to our expert center and pay us a fee for
resolving their technology problems.

Although we intend to leverage many of our existing resources, we anticipate making significant additional investments in support of our new
technology support service offering, including investments in establishment of our technology support call center and additional personnel. We
expect that these additional investments will precede any material revenue from our new business initiative. As a result, we currently expect to
incur losses for the foreseeable future in our business. See the risk factor relating to our new consumer technology services initiative under Item
1A, �Risk Factors.�   To partially offset the cost of these new investments, we reduced our workforce by 25 employees, or approximately 10% of
our workforce at that time  during the third quarter of 2006.  We incurred approximately $756,000 in severance and other personnel-related
termination costs in connection with this restructuring.

Our diluted earnings (loss) per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 was $(0.04) and $(0.19) compared to $0.00 and
$0.07 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2005, including the impact of stock compensation expense in 2006.

We intend the following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations that follows to provide information that will assist in
understanding our financial statements, the changes in certain key items in those financial statements from year to year, and the primary factors
that accounted for those changes, as well as how certain accounting principles, policies and estimates affect our financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

In preparing our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, we make
assumptions, judgments and estimates that can have a significant impact on our net revenue, operating results, as well as on the value of certain
assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. We base our assumptions, judgments and estimates on historical experience and various
other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. On a regular basis we evaluate our assumptions, judgments and estimates and make changes accordingly. We believe
that the assumptions, judgments and estimates involved in the accounting for revenue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts, accounting
for income taxes, business combinations and stock-based compensation have the greatest potential impact on our consolidated financial
statements, so we consider these to be our critical accounting policies. We discuss below the critical accounting estimates associated with these
policies. For further information on the critical accounting policies, see Note 1 of our Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles that have been prescribed for the software industry. Revenue
recognition requirements in the software industry are very complex and are subject to change. Our revenue recognition policy is one of our
critical accounting policies because revenue is a key component of our results of operations and is based on complex rules which require us to
make judgments. In applying our revenue recognition policy we must determine which portions of our revenue are recognized currently and
which portions must be deferred. In order to determine current and deferred revenue, we make judgments with regard to the expected amount of
future services and the appropriate fair value for those services. We also make judgments as to whether future services are essential to the
functionality of other elements of the software arrangement.

We do not record revenue on sales transactions when the collection of cash is in doubt at the time of sale. Rather, revenue is recognized from
these transactions as cash is collected. The determination of collectibility requires significant judgment.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We make judgments as to our ability to collect outstanding receivables and provide allowances for the portion of receivables when collection
becomes doubtful. Provisions are made based upon a specific review of all significant outstanding invoices. For those invoices not specifically
provided for, provisions are recorded at differing rates, based upon the age of the receivable. In determining these percentages, we analyze our
historical collection experience and current payment trends. If the historical data we use to calculate the allowance for doubtful accounts does
not reflect the future ability to collect
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outstanding receivables, additional provisions for doubtful accounts may be needed and the future results of operations could be materially
affected.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We are required to estimate our income taxes in each of the tax jurisdictions in which we operate. This process involves management�s
estimation of our actual current tax exposures together with an assessment of temporary differences determined based on the difference between
the financial statement and tax basis of certain items. These differences result in net deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are included within
the consolidated balance sheet. We must then assess the likelihood that the deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and
to the extent we believe that recovery is not likely, we must establish a valuation allowance. To the extent we establish a valuation allowance or
adjust this allowance in a period, we must include a tax expense or benefit within the tax provision in the statement of operations.

Business Combinations

When we acquire businesses, we allocate the purchase price to the fair value of tangible assets and liabilities acquired and identifiable intangible
assets. Any residual purchase price is recorded as goodwill. We engage independent third-party appraisal firms to assist in determining the fair
values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Such a valuation requires management to make significant estimates, especially with respect to
intangible assets. These estimates are based on historical experience and information obtained from the management of the acquired companies.
These estimates can include, but are not limited to, the cash flows than an asset is expected to generate in the future, the appropriate weighted
average cost of capital, and the cost savings expected to be derived from acquiring an asset. These estimates are inherently uncertain and
unpredictable. In addition, unanticipated events and circumstances may occur which may affect the accuracy or validity of such estimates.

At September 30, 2006, goodwill was $9.8 million, and net identifiable intangible assets were $3.2 million. We assess the impairment of
goodwill annually or more often if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We assess the
impairment of goodwill at the entity level because we have only one reporting unit. We determine the fair value of the Company by analyzing
sales prices of comparable software companies as a multiple of revenue. We supplement this evaluation using the Company�s market
capitalization. An impairment loss would be recognized if the fair value of the Company is less than the carrying value of the Company�s net
assets on the date of the evaluation. We assess the impairment of identifiable intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when the sum of the undiscounted future net
cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its carrying amount. Such impairment loss would
be measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value. The estimate of cash flow is based upon, among other
things, certain assumptions about expected future operating performance and an appropriate discount rate determined by our management. Our
estimates of discounted cash flows may differ from actual cash flows due to, among other things, economic conditions, changes to the business
model or changes in operating performance. If we made different estimates, material differences may result in write-downs of net long-lived and
intangible assets, which would be reflected by charges to our operating results for any period presented. At September 30, 2006, management
concluded its annual evaluation for impairment of goodwill and no impairment was recognized. We test for impairment during the third quarter
of each year, or earlier if indicators of impairment exist.

Stock-based compensation

We account for stock-based compensation in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123R. We adopted SFAS 123R using the modified
prospective transition method which requires the application of the accounting standard starting from January 1, 2006. Under the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS 123R, stock-based compensation cost is estimated at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and is
recognized as expense ratably over the requisite service period of the award. We estimate the fair value of stock-based awards on the grant date
generally using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model. Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of
stock-based awards requires judgment, including estimating stock price volatility, forfeiture rates and expected life. If any of these assumptions
used in the option-pricing models change significantly, stock-based compensation may differ materially in the future from that recorded in the
accompanying financial statements.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth the results of operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005 expressed as a
percentage of total revenue.

Three Months Ended
September 30,

Nine Months Ended
September 30,

2006 2005 2006 2005
Revenue:
License fees 38 % 42 % 32 % 51 %
Services 62 58 68 49

Net revenue 100 100 100 100

Costs and expenses:
Cost of license fees 1 1 1 1
Cost of services 33 27 34 23
Amortization of intangible assets 2 2 2 2
Research and development 19 21 23 18
Sales and marketing 51 41 55 40
General and administrative 23 16 25 14

Total costs and expenses 129 108 140 98

Income (loss) from operations (29 ) (8 ) (40 ) 2
Interest and other income, net 16 7 15 5

Income (loss) before income taxes (13 ) (1 ) (25 ) 7
Income tax provision (1 ) 0 (1 ) 0

Net income (loss) (14 )% (1 )% (26 )% 7 %

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2006

Revenue

License fees. Although license fees increased sequentially from the second quarter of 2006, license fees decreased to
$4.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $5.4 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2005 and to $10.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $23.8 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2005. The decrease reflected consummation of fewer large license transactions in
addition to a lower number of total license transactions.

Most of our customer contracts are for perpetual licenses, which, provided the criteria for revenue recognition are met, generally result in the
immediate recognition of license revenue. Although under certain contracts we have sold hosting services with our licenses or we have sold term
licenses, both of which result in ratable license revenue, ratable license revenue is currently an immaterial percentage of our total revenue.  As a
result, failure to enter into significant new perpetual licenses in any particular period, as we experienced in the first three quarters of 2006, could
cause our license revenue to decline substantially. We are seeking to introduce transaction structures that involve ratable revenue recognition and
we currently expect that any revenues from our planned consumer technology support services initiative would consist of revenue sharing
payments or service fees from a large number of transactions rather than large upfront software license fees upon which we have depended in the
past.

Services revenue. Although services revenue increased sequentially from the second quarter of 2006, services revenue
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decreased to $7.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $7.6 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2005 and to $20.8 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $22.4 million for
the nine months ended September 30, 2005. Services revenue decreased primarily due to lower consulting revenue of
$518,000 and $2.5 million for the three and nine month periods in 2006 as compared with the same periods in 2005
primarily as a result of one service provider customer in North America ordering less consulting services than
previous quarters. These decreases in consulting revenues were partially offset by increases in maintenance revenue of
$348,000 and $1.2 million in the three and nine month periods in 2006 as compared with the same periods in 2005
arising from maintenance contracts related to new license transactions.

18

Edgar Filing: SUPPORTSOFT INC - Form 10-Q

31



Revenue from customers outside the United States accounted for approximately 19% and 22% of our total revenue for the three and nine month
periods ended September 30, 2006, compared with 21% and 23% for the three and nine month periods ended September 30, 2005.

Cost of license fees

Cost of license fees consists primarily of costs related to third-party royalty fees under license arrangements for technology embedded in or
resold with our products. Cost of license fees decreased to $119,000 in the three months ended September 30, 2006 from $123,000 in the three
months ended September 30, 2005. Cost of license fees for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 decreased to $333,000 from $440,000 for
the same period in 2005. These decreases primarily resulted from the sale of less third-party software in the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2006 compared with the same periods in the prior year.

Cost of services

Cost of services consists primarily of compensation costs, travel costs, related overhead expenses for professional services personnel, payments
made to third parties for subcontracted consulting services and outsourced hosting fees. Cost of services increased to $4.0 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2006 from $3.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005. This increase was primarily due to
restructuring charges of $184,000 relating to our reduction in workforce and increases in compensation related costs, third party consulting fees
and outsourced hosting fees. Cost of services for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 decreased to $10.4 million from $10.6 million for
the same period in 2005. This decrease was primarily due to decreases in the use of third party consultants.

Included in the cost of services for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 was $87,000 and $210,000 of stock-based
compensation expense. There were no comparable expenses in the same periods last year, because we adopted the provisions of SFAS 123R
effective January 1, 2006.

Operating Expenses

Research and development. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development expense
consists primarily of compensation costs, consulting expenses and related overhead costs for research and
development personnel. Research and development expense decreased to $2.3 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2006 from $2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005. Research and development
expense decreased to $7.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $8.5 million for the same
period in 2005. These decreases were primarily due to decreases in salary and related expenses as a result of lower
headcount and decreases in third-party consulting costs. Included in research and development expense for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2006 was $83,000 and $301,000 of stock-based compensation expense. There
were no comparable expenses in the same periods last year, because we adopted the provisions of SFAS123R
effective January 1, 2006.

Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of compensation costs, including salaries, sales
commissions and related overhead costs for sales and marketing personnel and promotional expenses, including public
relations, advertising and trade shows. Sales and marketing expense increased to $6.0 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2006 from $5.3 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005. The increase was
primarily due to a restructuring charge of $338,000 relating to our reduction in workforce, increases in recruiting
expenses and commission expenses offset by a decrease in salaries and related costs due to lower headcount. Sales and
marketing expense decreased to $17.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $18.4 million for
the same period in 2005. The decrease was primarily due to lower variable compensation expenses, including lower
sales commissions resulting from fewer license sales, a decrease in salary and related expenses as a result of lower
headcount, and fewer events and tradeshows. Included in sales and marketing expenses for the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2006 was $219,000 and $592,000 of stock-based compensation expense. There were no
comparable expenses in the same periods last year, because we adopted the provisions of SFAS123R effective
January 1, 2006.

Edgar Filing: SUPPORTSOFT INC - Form 10-Q

32



General and administrative. General and administrative expense consists primarily of compensation costs and related
overhead costs for administrative personnel and professional fees for legal, accounting and other professional services.
General and administrative expense increased to $2.7 million for the three months ended September 30, 2006 from
$2.1 million for the three months ended September 30, 2005. General and administrative expense increased to $7.7
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $6.4 million for the same period in 2005. This increase
was primarily due to a restructuring charge of $194,000 relating to our reduction in workforce, increases in salary
expense due to executive transitions and third-party consulting fees. Also included in general and administrative
expenses for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006 is $415,000 and $1.2 million of stock-based
compensation expense. There were no
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comparable expenses in the same periods last year, because we adopted the provisions of SFAS123R effective January 1, 2006.

Stock-based compensation. On January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised
2004), �Share-Based Payment,� (SFAS 123R) which requires the measurement and recognition of compensation
expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors including employee stock options and
employee stock purchases based on estimated fair values. Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for share-based
payments to employees using the intrinsic value method under APB Opinion No. 25, as permitted by SFAS 123, and,
as such, generally recognized no compensation cost for employee stock options or employee stock purchases in our
financial statements.

We elected the modified prospective transition method for adopting SFAS 123R which requires the application of the accounting standard as of
January 1, 2006, the first day of our 2006 fiscal year. Under this transition method, compensation cost recognized in the three and nine months
ended September 30, 2006, includes the proportionate amounts of: (a) compensation cost for all stock-based payments granted prior to, but not
yet vested as of, December 31, 2005 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the original provisions of SFAS 123 and
previously presented in the pro-forma footnote disclosures, and (b) compensation cost of all stock-based payments granted subsequent to
January 1, 2006 based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the new provisions of SFAS 123R. Prior periods have not been
re-stated to reflect the impact of SFAS 123R.

For the three and nine months ended September 30, 2006, we recorded $804,000 and $2.3 million respectively in stock-based compensation
expense. At September 30, 2006, there was $8.7 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to existing options outstanding as of
September 30, 2006 which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.4 years.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, our Board of Directors approved the acceleration of vesting of certain unvested and out-of-money stock
options with exercise prices equal to or greater than $5.00 per share previously awarded to employees, including our executive officers, under
our equity compensation plans. The acceleration of vesting was effective for stock options outstanding as of December 21, 2005. Options to
purchase approximately 3.0 million shares of common stock or 32% of our then outstanding unvested stock options were subject to this
acceleration. The weighted average price of the options that were accelerated was $7.02. The acceleration of the vesting of these stock options
resulted in an approximate total savings of $12.0 million of future compensation expense that would have impacted expenses through the third
quarter of 2009. The options accelerated excluded options previously granted to members of the Board of Directors, employees who had
terminations pending and foreign employees who opted out of the acceleration for tax reasons. For all officers and vice-presidents (non-officers)
the acceleration was accompanied by restrictions imposed on any shares that may in the future be purchased through the exercise of accelerated
stock options. Those restrictions prevent the sale of any such shares prior to the date such shares would have originally vested had the optionee
been employed on such date (whether or not the optionee is actually an employee at that time). The purpose of the acceleration was to enable us
to avoid recognizing compensation expense associated with these options in our Consolidated Statements of Operations upon the adoption of
SFAS 123R on January 1, 2006.

Interest income and other, net. Interest income and other, net increased to $1.8 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2006 from $909,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2005. Interest income and other, net
increased to $4.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $2.5 million for the same period in
2005. These increases were primarily due to an increase in interest income due to higher interest rates earned on our
marketable securities. The increase for the three months ended September 30, 2006 over the same period in 2005 is
also due to a one-time payment of $295,000 that we received in the third quarter of 2006 in settlement of a contractual
dispute.

Provision for income taxes. The income tax provision increased to $72,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2006
from a $59,000 tax benefit for the three months ended September 30, 2005. The income tax provision increased to
$333,000 for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 from $126,000 for the same period in 2005. This increase
was primarily due to foreign withholding taxes related to international customer payments.

Each quarter, we evaluate the realizability of our deferred tax assets. At September 30, 2006, we had recorded a full valuation allowance against
our deferred tax assets based on the realization criteria outlined in the applicable accounting literature. Amongst other important factors, we have
considered and will continue to consider our history of earnings and our ability to generate pre-tax income in the future. Giving appropriate
consideration to all the relevant factors and assuming we perform as we expect in the future, we believe the release of a portion of our valuation
allowance will be appropriate at some point in the future. This would result in an income tax benefit within the statement of operations in the
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Since our incorporation in December 1997, we have financed our operations primarily through our initial public offering, follow-on public
offering, cash flows from operations and, to a lesser extent, from the private placement of our preferred and common stock, bank borrowings and
capital equipment lease financing. In November 2003, we completed our follow-on public offering from which we received net proceeds of
approximately $77.7 million. There are many variables that impact our financial plan including the levels of revenue, costs and expenses, and
new capital investments. Actual cash usage could differ from these projections.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities was $453,000 and $(3.5) million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and 2005,
respectively. Net cash provided by operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 was primarily due to cash collections
during the period, which contributed to a reduction in accounts receivable of $10.4 million. The reduction in accounts receivable was offset by a
net loss of $8.2 million, adjusted for amounts which did not require the use of cash of $4.0 million. These non-cash items primarily include
depreciation, amortization and stock-based compensation expense. Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended
September 30, 2005 was primarily the result of net income of $3.3 million offset by an increase in accounts receivable, net of $3.3 million and a
decrease in deferred revenue of $5.2 million.

Investing Activities

Net cash provided by (used in) in investing activities was $(7.2) million and $5.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and
2005, respectively. Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2006, was due to the purchases of property and
equipment of $(478,000) and by the net purchases in marketable securities of $(6.8) million. Net cash provided by investing activities for the
nine months ended September 30, 2005, was due primarily to the sale and maturity of $77.7 million of short term investments, offset by
purchases of $71.8 million in short term investments and the purchase of property and equipment of $1.0 million.

Financing Activities

Net cash generated by financing activities was $1.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2006 and $1.1 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2005. Net cash provided by financing activities was attributable to net proceeds from the purchase of common stock under
the employee stock purchase plan and the exercise of employee stock options. In the second quarter of 2005, our board of directors authorized
the repurchase of up to 2,000,000 outstanding shares of our common stock. To date, we have repurchased 192,598 shares of outstanding
common stock at a cost of $922,294 or an average cost of $4.76 per share, excluding commissions. No purchases have been made since the
second quarter of 2005.

Working Capital and Capital Expenditure Requirements

At September 30, 2006, we had stockholders� equity of $130.5 million and working capital of $116.6 million. Included as a reduction to working
capital is deferred revenue of $10.3 million, which will not require dollar-for-dollar of cash to settle, but will be recognized as revenue in the
future. We believe that our existing cash balances will be sufficient to meet our working capital requirements and stock repurchase program, as
well as our planned capital expenditures for at least the next 12 months.

A sustained period of losses, such as the loss we incurred in the first three quarters of 2006, would likely result in an increased net usage of cash
to fund our operating activities. Also, if we require additional capital resources to grow our business internally or to acquire complementary
technologies and businesses at any time in the future, we may seek to sell additional equity or debt securities. The sale of additional equity or
debt securities could result in more dilution to our stockholders. Financing arrangements may not be available to us, or may not be available in
amounts or on terms acceptable to us.

ITEM 3: QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We have operations in the United States and other countries and market and sell our products in North America, South America, Asia and
Europe. As a result, our financial results could be affected by factors such as changes in foreign currency exchange rates or weak economic
conditions in foreign markets. As most sales are currently made in U.S. dollars, a strengthening of the dollar could make our products less
competitive in foreign markets.

As of September 30, 2006, we held $18.5 million in cash and cash equivalents consisting of highly liquid investments having original maturity
dates of no more than 90 days. Declines of interest rates over time would reduce our interest income from our highly liquid marketable
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securities. Based upon our balance of cash and cash equivalents, a decrease in interest rates of
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100 basis points would cause a corresponding decrease in our annual interest income of approximately $185,000. Due to the nature of our highly
liquid cash equivalents, a change in interest rates would likely not materially change the fair market value of our cash and cash equivalents.

As of September 30, 2006, we held $104.0 million in marketable securities, which consisted primarily of corporate bonds, government debt
securities maturing in less than eighteen months and market auction securities resetting in less than forty-five days. The weighted average
interest rate of our portfolio was approximately 5.16% at September 30, 2006. A decline in interest rates over time would reduce our interest
income from our marketable securities. A decrease in interest rates of 100 basis points would cause a corresponding decrease in our annual
interest income of approximately $1.0 million. Due to the nature of our highly liquid cash equivalents, a change in interest rates would likely not
materially change the fair market value of our marketable securities.

ITEM 4: CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.

We maintain �disclosure controls and procedures,� as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
�Exchange Act�), that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms,
and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and
procedures, management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Our disclosure controls and procedures
have been designed to meet, and management believes they meet, reasonable assurance standards. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls
and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure
controls and procedures. The design of any disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future
conditions.

Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of our �disclosure controls and procedures� as of
the end of the period covered by this quarterly report, have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective based on their
evaluation of these controls and procedures required by paragraph (b) of Exchange Act Rules 13a-15 or 15d-15.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting.

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2006 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II: OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

Except as noted below, there are no material changes in the status of our legal proceedings from those described in our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, as updated in our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2006 and June
30, 2006.

In re SupportSoft, Inc. Securities Litigation is a consolidated complaint filed in the United Stated District Court of the
Northern District of California against the Company, our former CEO and former CFO. The complaint generally
alleges violations of certain federal securities law and seeks unspecified damages. On May 31, 2006, this action was
certified to proceed as a class action on behalf of all persons and entities who purchased or otherwise acquired the
securities of the Company from January 29, 2004 to October 1, 2004 and who were allegedly damaged thereby.

White v. Basu et al. is a derivative shareholder complaint filed in the Superior Court of the State of California for the
County of San Mateo. This complaint was filed on behalf of the Company as a nominal defendant against certain of
our directors and former directors and alleges that the director defendants harmed the Company by making or
permitting the Company to make false and misleading statements between January 20, 2004 and October 1, 2004. On
September 30, 2006, the court denied Defendants� demurrer to the plaintiffs� First Amended Complaint. Defendants�
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answer was filed November 6, 2006.

We are also subject to other routine legal proceedings, as well as demands, claims and threatened litigation, that arise in the normal course of our
business. The ultimate outcome of any litigation is uncertain, and either unfavorable or favorable
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outcomes could have a material negative impact. Regardless of outcome, litigation can have an adverse impact on SupportSoft because of
defense costs, diversion of management resources and other factors.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk. In addition to the other information contained in this report, you should consider the
following risk factors before investing in our securities.

Our quarterly results may fluctuate, which may cause our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly revenue and operating results have in the past and may in the future fluctuate from quarter to quarter. As a result, we believe that
quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year comparisons of our revenue and operating results are not necessarily meaningful, and that these comparisons
may not be accurate indicators of future performance.

Several factors that have contributed or may in the future contribute to fluctuations in our operating results include:

•  demand for our software;

•  size and timing of customer orders and our ability to receive payment and recognize revenue in a given
quarter;

•  our reliance on a small number of customers for a substantial portion of our revenue;

•  the price and mix of products and services we or our competitors offer;

•  our ability to attract and retain customers;

•  the amount and timing of operating costs and capital expenditures relating to expansion of our business,
infrastructure and marketing activities;

•  the exercise of judgment by our management in making accounting decisions in accordance with our
accounting policies, such as when to recognize certain tax assets and the impairment of goodwill or identifiable
intangible assets; and

•  general economic conditions and their effect on our operations.

In prior years, we licensed a significant portion of our software on a term basis in which revenue was recognized ratably over the length of the
agreement with the customer. In recent periods, however, we typically licensed our software on a perpetual basis in which we recognize the
license revenue upfront, assuming all criteria for revenue recognition have been met. As we shifted to a perpetual licensing model, we have
become dependent on a few customer contracts with upfront license revenue for a substantial portion of our revenue in any one quarter. In
addition, a significant portion of our total revenue each quarter comes from a number of orders received in the last month of a quarter. In
previous quarters, we failed to close expected perpetual licenses with upfront revenue. If we continue to fail to close orders expected to be
completed by the end of a quarter, particularly if these orders are for perpetual licenses with upfront revenue, or if there is any cancellation of or
delay in the closing of orders, particularly any large customer orders, our quarterly results would suffer.

Because a small number of customers have historically accounted for and may in future periods account for substantial portions of our
revenue, our revenue could decline because of delays or losses of specific customer orders.

A small number of customers have historically accounted for, and may in future periods account for, substantial portions of our revenue. For the
quarter ended September 30, 2006, one customer accounted for 21% of our total revenue. Our consumer technology support services initiative, if
successful, would reduce our dependence on large transactions, from a small number of customers. However, in the near term we are likely to
continue to derive a significant portion of our revenue from large transactions. Therefore our revenue could decline because of the loss or delay
of a single customer order. Additionally, we may not obtain new customers. The failure to obtain significant new customers, particularly
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customers that purchase perpetual licenses with upfront payments, the loss or delay of significant customer orders and the failure of existing
customers to pay ongoing fees when due would harm our operating results.

Our recently announced consumer technology services initiative will increase operating expenses without any assurance of yielding
increased revenue.

In April of 2006, we named Joshua Pickus as President and Chief Executive Officer of SupportSoft. Mr. Pickus conducted an evaluation of our
business operations and market opportunities which concluded in July 2006. Following this evaluation, we announced a plan to (1) strengthen
our current business through more effective deployment and management of resources, and (2) extend our business by providing consumer
technology support services in an effort to achieve sustained long term revenue growth. In addition to continuing to offer our software to
technology service providers and enterprises, we plan to
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offer technology support services to consumers through call-center based experts using our technology. Although we believe this new business
initiative is complementary to our core business, there can be no assurance that we will be able to offer these new services in a cost-effective or
timely manner. We have limited experience in servicing consumers directly and in management call centers, including outsourced call centers,
and we expect to spend significant cash and incur increased operating expenses to restructure SupportSoft to align with this new initiative, to
obtain the human capital necessary to support this initiative, and to promote our brand directly to consumers. There can be no assurance that
these investments will yield increased revenue to offset the expenses. Furthermore, this new business initiative, if not favorably received by
consumers, could damage the reputation of our core business as well as strain our management, financial and operational resources necessary to
maintain our core business. The lack of market acceptance of such efforts or our inability to generate satisfactory revenue from such expanded
services to offset their cost could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

We were not profitable for the first three quarters of 2006 and are likely to continue to sustain a loss.

Although we have been profitable on an annual basis since 2003, we were not profitable for the first three quarters of 2006. Our expenditures
could continue to exceed our revenue in future periods, thus preventing us from achieving or maintaining profitability on a quarterly or annual
basis. To achieve and maintain profitability, we will need to generate and sustain substantially higher revenue while maintaining reasonable cost
and expense levels. If we fail to achieve profitability, the market price of our common stock will likely decline. We may not achieve profitability
if our revenue does not increase or if revenue increases more slowly than we expect. In addition, our operating expenses are largely fixed in any
given quarter and any shortfall in anticipated revenue in any quarter could harm our results for such period. Finally, a sustained period of losses
would also likely result in an increased net usage of cash to fund our operating activities.

Although we intend to leverage many of our existing resources, we anticipate making significant additional investments in support of our
consumer technology support services initiative including investments in establishment of our expert call center and additional personnel. We
expect that theses additional investments will precede any revenue from our new business initiative. As a result, we currently expect to incur
losses in our business for the foreseeable future. See risk factor relating to our new business initiative under Item 1A, �Risk Factors.�

Our inability to meet future financial performance targets that we announce or that are published by research analysts could cause the
price of our common stock to decline.

From time to time, we provide guidance related to our future financial performance. In addition, financial analysts publish their own
expectations of our future financial performance. Because our quarterly revenue and our operating results fluctuate, future financial performance
is difficult to predict. In the past, we have failed to meet our guidance. Future negative adjustments of our guidance or the failure to meet our
guidance or those expectations of research analysts could likely cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Management�s ability to accurately predict performance is affected in large part by a significant portion of our total revenue being dependant
upon the closing of new large customer orders. In addition, our guidance is based in part upon the expectation of new product sales and services
offerings with which we have a limited history and as a result it is difficult to evaluate our future revenue from these products. In the event we
fail to close orders expected or forecasted to be completed, our results will not meet our guidance or the expectations of securities analysts or
investors, which would likely cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

Our sales cycle is lengthy and if revenue forecasted for a particular quarter is not realized in that quarter, significant expenses incurred
may not be offset by corresponding revenue.

Our sales cycle for our software typically ranges from three to nine months or more and may vary substantially from customer to customer. The
purchase of our products and services generally involves a significant commitment of capital and other resources by a customer. This
commitment often requires significant technical review, assessment of competitive products and approval at a number of management levels
within a customer�s organization. In addition, in the wake of Sarbanes-Oxley, companies have enhanced their approval processes making sales
more difficult or protracted. While our customers are evaluating our products and services, we may incur substantial sales and marketing
expenses and spend significant management effort to complete these sales. Any delay in completing sales in a particular quarter or the failure to
complete a sale after expending resources during the sales cycle could cause our operating results to suffer.

Our product innovations may not achieve the market penetration necessary for us to expand our market share.

If we fail to develop enhanced versions of our software in a timely manner or to provide products and services that achieve rapid and broad
market acceptance, we may not maintain or expand our market share. We may fail to identify new product and service opportunities for our
current market or new markets that we enter into in the future. In addition, our existing products may become obsolete if we fail to introduce
new products or product enhancements that meet new customer
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demands, support new standards or integrate with new or upgraded versions of packaged applications. We have limited control over factors that
affect market acceptance of our product and services, including:

•  the willingness of companies to transition to automated solutions; and

•  acceptance of competitors� solutions or other similar technologies.

We may engage in investments or acquisitions or other strategic matters that could divert management attention and prove difficult to
integrate with our business and technology.

We may engage in acquisitions of other companies, products or technologies or in other strategic initiatives. If we fail to integrate successfully
any future acquisitions, or the technologies associated with such acquisitions, the revenue and operating results of the combined company could
decline. The process of integrating businesses, technologies, services or products may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and
expenditures. Acquisitions involve a number of other potential risks to our business, including the following:

•  potential adverse effects on our operating results, including unanticipated costs and liabilities, unforeseen
accounting charges or fluctuations resulting from failure to accurately forecast the financial impact of an acquisition;

•  failure to integrate products or technologies with our existing products, technologies and business model;

•  failure to integrate management information systems, personnel, research and development and marketing,
sales and support operations;

•  potential loss of key employees;

•  diversion of management�s attention from other business concerns and disruption of our ongoing business;

•  difficulty in maintaining controls and procedures;

•  potential loss of customers;

•  uncertainty on the part of our existing customers about our ability to operate on a combined basis;

•  failure to realize the potential financial or strategic benefits of the acquisition; and

•  failure to successfully further develop the combined technology, resulting in the impairment of amounts
recorded as goodwill or other intangible assets.

Our failure to establish and expand third-party alliances would harm our ability to sell our software and provide our services.

We have alliances with third parties that are important to our business. Our existing relationships include those with software and hardware
vendors, and relationships with companies who provide outsourced support and service capabilities to enterprise customers. If these
relationships fail, we may have to devote substantially more resources to the sales and marketing of our products and services than we would
otherwise, and our efforts may not be as effective. For example, companies that provide outsourced support and services often have extensive
relationships with our existing and potential customers and significant input in the purchase decisions of these customers. In addition, we may
establish relationships with third party resellers and other sales partners as we expand into geographic regions such as Europe and Asia. Our
failure to maintain existing relationships, or to establish new relationships with key third parties, could significantly harm our ability to sell our
products and services. In addition, our competitors may have strong alliances with other companies, including hardware providers, which could
impact our ability to obtain greater market share, participate in deals where hardware and software are sold together, or require us to reduce the
price of products and services, which could harm our business, financial condition and operating results.
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Additionally, our consumer technology support services initiative will require us to establish relationships with third parties who will refer
customers to us as well as with third parties to which we intend to outsource much of our call center services. Failure to establish or maintain
these relationships on acceptable terms or at all could materially and adversely affect the success of this initiative.

If the growth of demand for digital services by subscribers of digital services providers does not continue or if demand by digital service
providers for our software does not continue, our ability to increase our revenue could suffer.

Our ability to increase our revenue will depend in part on increased demand for digital services. If this demand does not grow as rapidly or to the
extent we anticipate, our business could suffer. The growth of digital services is uncertain and will depend in particular upon the availability, at a
reasonable price, of such digital services, the building of infrastructure to support such services, the availability of competitive products, and the
reliability of such services.
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Even if the demand and deployment of digital services grows, we may not be able to grow our revenue because our products for new digital
services are relatively new and unproven and have not generated significant revenue to date.

We are seeking to increase our international revenues and if our revenue from this effort does not exceed the expense of establishing and
maintaining international operations, our business could suffer.

We are seeking to increase our international revenues.  For the year ended December 31, 2004 international revenue was 11% of total revenue
and for the year ended December 31, 2005 international revenue was 21% of total revenue. For the nine months ended September 30, 2006,
international revenue was 22% of total revenue. We have limited experience in international operations and may not be able to compete
effectively in international markets or effectively manage our operations in various countries. If we do not generate enough revenue from
international operations to offset the expense of these operations, our business and our ability to increase revenue and enhance our operating
results could suffer. Risks we face in conducting business internationally include:

•  costs of staffing and managing international operations;

•  smaller customers with less ability to pay United States rates for the software;

•  difficulty in reaching geographically dispersed customers;

•  differing technology standards and legal considerations;

•  longer sales cycles;

•  dependence on local vendors and consultants;

•  difficulties in staffing and managing international operations, including the difficulty in managing a
geographically dispersed workforce in compliance with diverse local laws and customs and difficulty in motivating
and retaining qualified individuals;

•  potential adverse tax consequences;

•  changes in currency exchange rates and controls;

•  difficulties in maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting as a result of a
geographically-dispersed workforce and customers;

•  longer collection cycles for accounts receivable; and

•  the effects of external events such as terrorist acts and any related conflicts or similar events worldwide.

If we do not expand our professional services organization, especially internationally, our customers may become dissatisfied and our
operating results could suffer. Also, as we expand our professional services organization, it may not operate in a profitable manner.

Clients that license our software typically engage our professional services organization to assist with installation and implementation of our
software and related consulting services. Revenue from professional services represented a substantial portion of our total revenue for the three
and nine months ended September 30, 2006. We plan to further increase the number of services personnel, especially internationally, to meet
customer needs. We may not be able to recruit the services personnel we need or retain our current services personnel because competition for
qualified services personnel is intense. New services personnel will require training and education and take time to reach full productivity.

In addition, we cannot be certain that our professional services business will operate in a profitable manner. We have generally billed our
customers for professional services on a time and material basis using an agreed upon daily rate. However, increasingly customers have
requested various contract structures, including milestone based contracts and contracts for a fixed total fee. If unanticipated factors in a project
are encountered and the contract structure prevents us from billing additional amounts, the profitably of our professional services business would
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suffer. Furthermore, an estimated loss on a contract is generally required to be recorded in the period in which a loss becomes evident.
Recording a loss on a services contract could have a material adverse effect on our operating results for the period in which the loss was
recorded.

The loss of key personnel and the integration of new management may affect our ability to achieve our business goals.

Our success depends on the skills, experience and performance of our senior management, engineering, sales, marketing and other key
personnel. The loss of the services of any of our senior management or other key personnel could harm our business and our ability to achieve
our business goals. To date in 2006, Radha R. Basu, our former President and Chief Executive Officer, John Van Siclen, our former Senior Vice
President of Worldwide Field Operations, and Brian Beattie, our former Chief Financial Officer, resigned. We have also recently implemented
reductions in our workforce. Reductions in our workforce as well as changes in senior management could make it difficult to motivate and retain
remaining key employees or attract new employees, and provide distractions affecting our ability to manage our business.
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Since April 2006, we have appointed a new CEO, Senior Vice President of Sales, Senior Vice President of Global Services and Chief Marketing
Officer. The efforts in integrating new management may divert attention from other business concerns and disrupt our ongoing business,
especially in the short term. Our success will depend to a significant extent on the ability of these executives to function effectively in their new
roles and our ability to retain the services of these new executives.  If  these executives do not function effectively or if we lose the services of
one or more of our executives or key employees, our business could be harmed.

Our exposure to the credit risks of our customers and resellers may make it difficult to collect receivables and could adversely affect our
operating results and financial condition.

Industry and economic conditions have weakened the financial position of some of our customers in the cable and telecommunications
industries, which are industries from which we derive a substantial portion of our total revenue, and these businesses have traditionally been
highly leveraged businesses. To sell to some of these customers, we may be required to take risks of uncollectible accounts. We may be exposed
to similar risks relating to third party resellers and other sales partners, as we intend to increasingly utilize such parties as we expand into new
geographic regions. Additionally, as we have expanded our business internationally we have experienced longer payment terms and collection
cycles from customers outside the United States. While we monitor these situations carefully and attempt to take appropriate measures to protect
ourselves, it is possible that we may have to write down or write off doubtful accounts. Such write-downs or write-offs would negatively affect
our operating results for the period in which they occur, and, if large, could have a material adverse effect on our operating results and financial
condition.

Our products depend on and work with products containing complex software, and if our products fail to perform properly due to
errors in the software, we may need to devote resources to correct the errors or compensate for losses from these errors and our
reputation could be harmed.

Our products depend on complex software, both internally developed and licensed from third parties. Also, our customers may use our products
with other companies� products which also contain complex software. Complex software often contains errors and may not perform properly.
These errors could result in:

•  delays in product shipments;

•  unexpected expenses and diversion of resources to identify the source of errors or to correct errors, whether
or not the error is later determined to be related to our software;

•  damage to our reputation;

•  lost sales;

•  contractual penalties, demands, claims and litigation and related defense costs; and

•  warranty claims.

If our products fail to perform properly due to errors, bugs or similar problems in the software, we could be required to devote valuable
resources to correct the errors or compensate for losses from these errors. Furthermore, if our products are found to contain errors or bugs,
whether resulting from internally developed or third-party licensed software, our reputation with our customer base could be harmed and our
business could suffer.

Additionally we will be using our own products to diagnose and resolve consumer technology problems in our new business initiative. If our
products fail to perform well in this environment, our new business initiative could suffer and may not be successful.

Our reported results of operations will continue to be materially and adversely affected by our adoption of SFAS 123R.

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payment (SFAS 123R), became effective in our first quarter
of 2006, and has resulted in our recognition of substantial compensation expense relating to our employee stock options and employee stock
purchase plans. Historically, we generally have not recognized in our statement of operations any compensation expense related to stock option
grants we issue under our stock option plans or the discounts we provide under our employee stock purchase plans. Under the new rules, we are
required to measure the compensation expense related to employee stock awards on a fair value basis, which leads to substantial additional
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compensation expense and a material adverse effect on our reported results of operations.
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If we are unable to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, including our internal control over financial reporting, our
ability to report our financial results on a timely and accurate basis may be adversely affected.

We have evaluated our �disclosure controls and procedures� as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as well as our internal control over financial reporting as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Our independent registered
public accounting firm has performed a similar evaluation of our internal control over financial reporting. Effective controls are necessary for us
to provide reliable financial reports and effectively prevent fraud. If we cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, our operating
results could be harmed. As of December 31, 2005, we concluded that our internal control over financial reporting were effective. However, in
2004 we had material weaknesses in our internal controls and we cannot be certain that we will continue to have adequate controls over our
financial processes and reporting in the future. If weaknesses are identified, our ability to report our financial results on a timely and accurate
basis may be adversely affected. In addition, if we cannot maintain effective internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and
procedures, investors may lose confidence in our reported financial information, which could have a negative effect on the trading price of our
common stock.

If our existing customers do not renew maintenance services or purchase additional products, our operating results could suffer.

Historically, we have derived, and expect to continue to derive, a significant portion of our total revenue from existing customers who purchase
additional products or renew maintenance services. Our customers may not renew maintenance services or purchase additional products and may
not expand their use of our products. In addition, as we introduce new products, our current customers may not require or desire the functionality
of our new products and may not ultimately purchase these products. If our customers do not renew maintenance services or do not purchase
additional products, our revenue levels and operating results could suffer.

Our software may not operate with the hardware and software platforms that are used by our customers now or in the future, and as a
result our business and operating results may suffer.

We currently serve a customer base with a wide variety of constantly changing hardware, software and networking platforms. If we fail to
release versions of our software that are compatible with operating systems, software applications or hardware devices used by our customers,
our business and operating results would suffer. Our future success also depends on:

•  the continuing ability of our products to inter-operate with multiple platforms and packaged applications
used by our customer base; and

•  our management of software being developed by third parties for our customers or for use with our products.

We rely on third-party technologies and our inability to use or integrate third-party technologies could delay product or service
development.

We intend to continue to license technologies from third parties, including applications used in our research and development activities and
technologies such as third-party search engine technology, which are integrated into our products and services. Our inability to obtain or
integrate any of these technologies with our own products could delay product and service development until equivalent technology can be
identified, licensed and integrated. These technologies may not continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms or at all. We
may fail to successfully integrate any licensed technology into our products or services, which would harm our business and operating results.
Third-party licenses also expose us to increased risks that include:

•  risks of product malfunction after new technology is integrated;

•  the diversion of resources from the development of our own proprietary technology; and

•  our inability to generate revenue from new technology sufficient to offset associated acquisition and
maintenance costs.

We must compete successfully in the market for software and services that resolve technical problems or we will lose market share and
our business will suffer.
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We compete in markets that are highly competitive, subject to rapid change and significantly affected by new product introductions and other
market activities of industry participants. We compete with a number of companies in the market for automated delivery of support and service
automation and other vendors who may offer products or services with features that compete with specific elements of our software products and
services. In addition, our customers and potential customers have developed or may develop internally similar software systems. We expect that
internally developed applications will continue to be a principal source of competition in the foreseeable future.

The markets for our products are still rapidly evolving, and we may not be able to compete successfully against current and potential
competitors. Our ability to expand our business will depend on our ability to maintain our technological advantage, introduce timely enhanced
products to meet the growing support needs, deliver on-going value to our customers and scale our business. Our potential competitors may have
longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical and other
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resources, stronger strategic alliances or greater name recognition than we do. Competition in our markets could reduce our market share or
require us to reduce the price of products and services, which could harm our business, financial condition and operating results.

As we enter the market for consumer technology support services, we expect to compete against a set of competitors different than the
competitors against whom we have historically competed, including electronics retailers offering on-site technology support services, companies
offering online technology support services and companies offering local technology support services. Certain of these anticipated competitors
have longer operating histories, significantly greater financial, technical and other resources, stronger strategic alliances or greater name
recognition than we do.

Our system security is important to our customers and we may need to spend significant resources to protect against or correct
problems caused by security breaches.

A fundamental requirement for online communications, transactions and support is the secure transmission of confidential information. Third
parties may attempt to breach our security or that of our customers. We may be liable to our customers for any breach in security and any breach
could harm our business and reputation. Also, computers are vulnerable to computer viruses, physical or electronic break-ins and similar
disruptions, which could lead to interruptions, delays or loss of data. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to
further protect against security breaches or to correct problems caused by any breach.

Failure to resolve pending securities claims and other lawsuits may lead to continued costs and expenses and divert management�s
attention from our business, which could cause our revenue and our stock price to decline.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against public companies, including our company, after periods of volatility
in the market price of securities. The market price of our common stock has been subject to significant fluctuations and may continue to
fluctuate or decline. In addition, the anti-takeover provisions we have adopted in the past, such as prohibiting stockholder action by written
consent, or may adopt in the future may be perceived negatively by the market causing a decline in our stock price or litigation against us.
Securities class action lawsuits were filed against us in November 2001 and again in December 2004. In addition, a derivative shareholder
lawsuit was filed against us in December 2005. Should these lawsuits linger for a long period of time, whether ultimately resolved in our favor
or not, or further lawsuits be filed against us, coverage limits of our insurance or our ability to pay such amounts may not be adequate to cover
the fees and expenses and any ultimate resolution associated with such litigation. The size of these payments, if any, individually or in the
aggregate, could seriously impair our cash reserves and financial condition. The continued defense of these lawsuits also could result in
continued diversion of our management�s time and attention away from business operations, which could cause our financial results to decline. A
failure to resolve definitively current or future material litigation in which we are involved or in which we may become involved in the future,
regardless of the merits of the respective cases, could also cast doubt as to our prospects in the eyes of customers, potential customers and
investors, which could cause our revenue and stock price to decline.

Privacy concerns and laws or other domestic or foreign regulations may reduce the effectiveness of our solution or harm our reputation
and cause us to lose customers.

Our software contains features which allow our customers to control, monitor or collect information from computers running the software.
Federal, state and foreign government bodies and agencies, however, have adopted or are considering adopting laws and regulations regarding
the collection, use and disclosure of personal information obtained from consumers and individuals. The costs of compliance with, and other
burdens imposed by, such laws and regulations that are applicable to the businesses of our customers may limit the use and adoption of our
solutions and reduce overall demand for it. Furthermore, privacy concerns may cause our customers� customers to resist providing the data
necessary to allow our customers to use our solutions effectively. Even the perception of privacy concerns, whether or not valid, may inhibit
adoption of our solutions. In addition, we may face claims about invasion of privacy or inappropriate disclosure, use or loss of this information.
Any imposition of liability could harm our reputation, cause us to lose customers and cause our operating results to suffer.

Any system failure that causes an interruption in our customers� ability to use our products or services or a decrease in their
performance could harm our relationships with our customers and result in reduced revenue.

Our software is vulnerable to damage or interruption from computer viruses, human error, natural disasters, electricity grid failures and
intentional acts of vandalism and similar events. These problems could interrupt our customers� ability to use our products or services, which
could harm our reputation and cause us to lose customers and revenue.
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We may not obtain sufficient patent protection, which could harm our competitive position, increase our expenses and harm our
business.

Our success and ability to compete depend to a significant degree upon the protection of our software and other proprietary technology. It is
possible that:

•  our pending patent applications may not be issued;

•  competitors may independently develop similar technologies or design around any of our patents;

•  patents issued to us may not be broad enough to protect our proprietary rights; and

•  our issued patents could be successfully challenged.

We rely upon patents, trademarks, copyrights and trade secrets to protect our proprietary rights and if these rights are not sufficiently
protected, it could harm our ability to compete and to generate revenue.

We rely on a combination of laws, such as patents, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, and contractual restrictions, such as
confidentiality agreements and licenses, to establish and protect our proprietary rights. Our ability to compete and grow our business could suffer
if these rights are not adequately protected. Our proprietary rights may not be adequately protected because:

•  laws and contractual restrictions may not adequately prevent misappropriation of our technologies or deter
others from developing similar technologies; and

•  policing unauthorized use of our products and trademarks is difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and we
may be unable to determine the existence or extent of this unauthorized use.

Also, the laws of other countries in which we market our products may offer little or no protection of our proprietary technologies. Reverse
engineering, unauthorized copying or other misappropriation of our proprietary technologies could enable third parties to benefit from our
technologies without paying us for them, which would harm our competitive position and market share.

We may face intellectual property infringement claims that could be costly to defend and result in our loss of significant rights.

Other parties may assert intellectual property infringement claims against us or our customers and our products may infringe the intellectual
property rights of third parties. For example, our products may infringe issued patents that may relate to our products. In addition, as is
increasingly common in the software industry, we may be confronted with the aggressive enforcement of patents by companies whose primary
business activity is to acquire patents for the purpose of offensively asserting them against other companies.  Intellectual property litigation is
expensive and time-consuming and could divert management�s attention from our business. If there is a successful claim of infringement, we may
be required to develop non-infringing technology or enter into royalty or license agreements which may not be available on acceptable terms, if
at all. Our failure to develop non-infringing technologies or license the proprietary rights on a timely basis would harm our business.

We have recorded long-lived assets, and our results of operations would be adversely affected if their value becomes impaired.

Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets were recorded as a result of our acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Core Networks
Incorporated on September 2, 2004. We assess the impairment of goodwill annually or more often if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We assess the impairment of acquired product rights and other identifiable intangible assets
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized
when the sum of the discounted future net cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition is less than its
carrying amount. Such impairment loss would be measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and its fair value. Material
differences may result in write-downs of net long-lived and intangible assets, which would cause our operating results to suffer.

If securities analysts stop publishing research or reports about us or our business or if they downgrade our stock, the price of our stock
could decline.
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The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or our
business. We do not control these analysts. If one or more of the analysts who currently cover us downgrade our stock, our stock price would
likely decline rapidly. Furthermore, if one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn
could cause our stock price to decline.
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Risks Related To Our Industry

We may experience a decrease in market demand due to uncertain economic conditions in the United States and in international
markets, which has been further exacerbated by the concerns of terrorism, war and social and political instability.

The United States and some international economies have in the past, experienced periods of slow economic growth. In addition, the terrorists
attacks in the United States and turmoil in the Middle East have increased the uncertainty in the United States economy and may further
exacerbate the decline in economic conditions, both domestically and internationally. Terrorist acts and similar events, or war in general, could
contribute further to a slowdown of the market demand for goods and services, including software solutions. If the economy declines as a result
of economic, political and social turmoil, or if there are further terrorist attacks in the United States or elsewhere, we may experience decreases
in the demand for our products and services, which may harm our operating results.

We may be required to change our business practices if there are changes in accounting regulations and related interpretations and
policies.

Accounting standards groups and regulators are actively re-examining various accounting policies, guidelines and interpretations related to
revenue recognition, expensing stock options, income taxes, investments in equity securities, facilities consolidation, accounting for acquisitions,
allowance for doubtful accounts and other financial reporting matters. These standards groups and regulators could promulgate interpretations
and guidance that could result in material and potentially adverse changes to our business practices and accounting policies.

New rules and regulations for public companies have increased and may continue to increase our administrative costs.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as well as new rules subsequently implemented by the Securities and Exchange Commission and the Nasdaq
Global Market, have required changes in corporate governance practices of public companies.

These rules and regulations are increasing our legal and financial compliance costs, and making some activities more time-consuming and
costly. These rules and regulations make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we
may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These new rules and regulations could also
make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee, and
qualified executive officers.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
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ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibits. �

31.1 Chief Executive Officer Section 302 Certification

31.2 Chief Financial Officer Section 302 Certification

32.1 Statement of the Chief Executive Officer under 18 U.S.C. § 1350(1)

32.2 Statement of the Chief Financial Officer under 18 U.S.C. § 1350(1)

(1) The certifications filed as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 are not deemed �filed� for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date hereof irrespective of any general incorporation by reference
language contained in any such filing, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

November 8, 2006

SUPPORTSOFT, INC.

By: /s/ KEN OWYANG
Ken Owyang

Chief Financial Officer and
Senior Vice President of Finance and

Administration
(Principal Financial Officer, Chief Accounting

Officer and Duly Authorized Signatory)
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EXHIBIT INDEX TO SUPPORTSOFT, INC.

QUARTERLY REPORT ON FORM 10-Q

FOR THE QUARTER ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006

31.1 Chief Executive Officer Section 302 Certification
31.2 Chief Financial Officer Section 302 Certification
32.1 Statement of the Chief Executive Officer under 18 U.S.C. § 1350(1)
32.2 Statement of the Chief Financial Officer under 18 U.S.C. § 1350(1)

(1) The certifications filed as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 are not deemed �filed� for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1933 or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, whether made before or after the date hereof irrespective of any general incorporation by reference
language contained in any such filing, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference.
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